"NAZARETH UNIVERSITY": acollege at thetop of the hill

James D. Barnes, 8@ecember 2025 — last revised"anuary 2026
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overs the three acre sittICWilmeth purchased in 1887 for Nazareth Univ

élysit

In the fall of 1886 the Reverend C.M. Wilimeminister and publisher for his Christian Chudgmomination, decided that
the "hilltop" corner of the escarpment, overlookthg wide floodplain of the Trinity River, with aew to the city of Dallas
about two miles to the east, would be the bestsplocate his new collegblazareth University The following February, and
again in April, Wilmeth secured real estate deedsifWilliam R. Fisher — three acres of land atribeth end of what is now
Willomet Avenue, at the summit of what is now Sesiteet?

Wilmeth's family had been White Settler piersswho had arrived in Dallas in 1845 and stak&drdier land claim in what-
is-now Grand Prairie. They probably knew Williarodinbes, and like William Coombes the Wilmeths hadtile with
Comanche raiders stealing their horses. Menacedebindian threat, they retreated northeast tdirC8bunty,® where a new
son was born on thé%of January 1848. He was named Collin McKinneyrigith and later went by the nickname "Mac".
Likely, as a boy Mac had been introduced to hisesake, early Texas pioneer Collin McKinney (17664)8for whom the
county and its principal city were named.

C.M. Wilmeth attendellentucky Universityenrolled in theiCollege of the Biblé -- today known as thieexington
Theological SeminaryThis was a department in Kentucky's oldest usityg a private school then located in Lexingtahere
it remains today asransylvania University Like his father, and his older brother Jameb).GVilmeth became a minister in
the Christian Church. Returning to Texas he, aleitig his brother James, briefly taught at Auad-Ran Collegen Thorpe
Springs, Texas — now known @exas Christian UniversitgT CU) in Fort Worth. After various missionary servicas1875
C.M. Wilmeth and his brother James started pubigslai church newspaper, which in 1877 they movdaaitas and distributed
as theChristian Preacher
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" --- a number of churches introduced the use of ingniat music in services. These actions producethiam
within the denomination and became a matter ofipuabate --. Although Wilmeth published church news and a
calendar of coming events, most of Qieristian Preachewas devoted to commentaries that attacked the
"progressive"” tenets of the other faction of tharch. The editorials, demonstrative and flamboyaften were a
response to remarks published ina rival religious paper-. These two publications acted as a public foram f
members of the Disciples of Christ."

"Mac" Wilmeth decided in 1886 that he was gdimgtart a new Christian Church college on thikdpilacross the Trinity
River opposite Dallas. He was going to move towhiam Coombes Survey. He was thirty-eight yeaids C.M. Wilmeth
had married Mary Griffith Rutherford in 1873, amty already had five children, a son and four dearghwith another son
born in October of that yearWilmeth often preached to the local West Dallasi€h of Christ congregation who were meeting
inside theMount Airy Academygchool building in West Dallas. In 1881, the cagation had bought land for a cemetery and
church building site, but had not yet built anyrpanent sanctuary structure.

Nazareth Universitgeems to have been modeled after the departnoegtaiization oKentucky Universityvhere Wilmeth
had attended college, with Music, Bible, and IndakDepartments.



The oldest mention of C.M. Wilmeth in tDallas Morning Newsippears on Octobe™ of 1886, when the neNazareth
Universityis alsofirst mentioned. Two days latThe Newslescribed plar for Wilmeth's universityuilding:

" Yesterday the architeexhibited tcThe Newsepresentative the partly perfected plans for therbuilding of
Nazareth University which is to be erected on HaedHeights. It is to be three story, of stonghwabout 150 fee
front in full, facing east, the pike forminn airline avenue to the city. The front consiststhe main floor, of twi
wings for reception and office rooms. Immediatelyhe rear of these another pair of wings extegdiorth anc
south about twenty feet behind the former. Thertiradly in the rear is the chapel, which will seat on the floo®!
or more, and with the galleries and rooms addechégns of sliding partitions, an extended auditorisiiaffordec
that will accommodate 2000 or 2500 heare®

No illustration of the 188architectural design for Reveid Wilmeths Nazareth Universitgan be found todayThis new
West Dallas college woulhave enclosedbout twice the volume of RevereH. S.Howell's West Dallas college for tl
Colored Christian Churc—National Christian Colleg. Thename of thearchitect forNazareth Universii is unknown, but it's
reasonable to wonder if Wilmeth hemploye( West Dallas resident JamE. Flanders, the architect of the Dallas CoL
Courthouse. Though the description of tran includecho mention of any tower, other college buildingsioilar size in tha
era of north Texaoftenhad big square central towell like the idea of a tall square tower appearinthe horizon for travelers
headed both directioralong straight-lin@Vest Commerce Stre—the square toweof the Dallas Couly Courthouse seen just
off to the left of West CommerStreet whettraveling eastand a similar square towfor the universityseen on the hilltop, just
off the left of West Commerce Set when traveling west. But no cornerstone was kd. Suchgranceur would never be.

Dallas County courthouse of 1881, designed Similar in size to the building described for Nazgh University i this
architectJames E. FlandersBurned in 1890. St. Mary's College in East Dallas. Started in 1886&zec around 1948.
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"Old Main" at Baylor University, Waco,Texas. James Eelanders drew this courthous design
Construction started in 1887. Still standir for Shackelford county in 188: Still standing.



University president Wilmeth was prudent anacfical. Instead of the large stone building giesd forNazareth University
he started by building frame houses for himself #wedother faculty. Though it had never mentiopezlZious classes held for
Nazareth UniversityThe Newseported that classes "opened again” on thefZlanuary 1887, with the Bible departm&rin
April the university is credited with having seviaculty members, meeting in the community schodding.® What was
planned was construction of half a dozen wood frameses for faculty. Classes were then held insidénomes of the
professors, much like Thomas Jefferson had plaforetie University of Virginia By February of 1888\azareth University
had not only a Bible College to train ministers fioe Christian Church, it also had an Industriall&z® A Music Department
opened in Wilmeth's new residence and "the sourideopiano (as well as the hammer) is constantydie'*
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Detail from Sheet 582; Volume 5; 1922 edition af Banborn Insurance maps, Dallas, Texas -- witgitheof Nazareth University
added as an outline in purple. Theelo\College" street is now "Willomet Avenue" an#idven Av." is now "Seale Street".

Wilmeth depended heavily on the neighborhobdgfian Church, imploring them to postpone buitdthemselves a building for
at least five years while his university could gigtrted. Wilmeth had been an influential evarsgj@ind leader of the Christian
Church in Texas; but by March of 1888 a divisivepdite had erupted within the West Dallas congregatihe Christian Church
group split, with a minor faction following preacH®/eeping Joe" Harding east, down onto the floatpto open a new separate
church. Harding resigned from the West Dallas chuAngry calls were made for Wilmeth similarlytitand over his resignatidf.

In the late spring of 1888, at the end ofdbhademic term:

" Thecollege and President Wilmeth's residence weramhi@pen and the campus was arranged with seats and
croquet sets for all who wished to enjoy sportepmnades and conversation under the moonlightnidan rode high
in the heavens and poured a flood of light over aad cedar and shrub, until it was difficult tecide which was the
more lovely, Mount Airy by moonlight or the city ewopposite with its long lines of gas lights ahere and there its
sentinels of electric light*®

NazaretHJniversitycontinued to hold classes for another academic g@a commencement exercises in June of 1889c:tbse
school term -- th@ierian Society and Nazareth Lycetwill adjourn till fall" it was reported? But there would be no fall semester
classes dilazareth University Partially in exchange for cancellation of thertgage debt still due, President Wilmeth transfirre
land ownership for his university site back to \ith R. Fisher on the 3%f October 1889° Wilmeth then moved with hisazareth
Universityto Corinth, Howard County, Arkansas, where théegma struggled until its final closure in 1897. |Wweth led a group
"Exodusto Mexico", where he was initially successful stablishing a new colony at Tampico. He contraatathria and died there
on the 12th of October 1898, age’84.

Collin McKinney "Mac" Wilmeth, portraits'’ e f

At this point we know of no documents or a#iicecords from thifdNazareth Universitynor any photograph of its buildings or
students. We have no statement left explainingghsondNazareth Universithhad been moved away from West Dallas.

Methodist-Episcopal minister Samuel Armstr¢b§13-1890), himself a former managing Trusteeafoollege, proposed in April
1889 the creation of another university in West&@st, but, so far, no other college has ever opendldewilliam Coombes
Survey.

(End)



FOOTNOTES:

1.
2.

3.
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16.
17.

1886-October-8thpDallas Morning Newspage 8West Dallas Items
Dallas County Deed Records; Volume 95, page 4937-F&bruary-28, warranty deed to C.M. Wilmeth from W.R. Fisher
and: Dallas County Deed Records; Volumep@@e 525; 1887-April-27 warranty deed to C.M. Wilmeth from W.R. Fisher
Though barely mentioning C.M. Wilmeth, there i®ad account of his ancestry and his parents' segtiein north Texas, in:
1929-July-28 Dallas Morning Newspages 3 and §he Owned Grayson County's First StdweClemintine W. Briley.
FindAGrave.confJanuary 2026); Collin McKinney "Mac" Wilmeth: 184898 (burial site unknown).
R. L. Roberts, “Wilmeth, Collin McKinney Handbook of Texas Onlindaccessed December 26, 2025),
https://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/entries/wilmettlin-mckinney Published by the Texas State Historical Assammati
David Minor, “Christian PreacherHandbook of Texas Onlinéaccessed December 30, 2025),
https://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/entries/chastpreacherPublished by the Texas State Historical Assoaiatio
Family Search.confDecember 2025); family tree for Collin McKinneyiMieth (1848-1898).
1887-January’¥, Dallas Morning Newspage 16;West Dallas
1887-April-17", Dallas Morning Newspage 9;Answers to Correspondents.

. 1888-February-# Dallas Morning Newspage 5:West Dallas

. 1888-February-13 Dallas Morning Newspage 4West Dallas

. 1888-March 28; Dallas Morning Newspage 4Church Differences ilVest Dallas

. 1888-June 2% Dallas Morning Newspage 13The News in the Suburbs

. 1889-June-?; Dallas Morning News; page 23: West Dallas, amoes the adjournment of the Pierian Society arwum;

1889-June-25 Dallas Morning Newspage 6Nazareth Collegejescribes the final commencement held in West Balla

. Dallas County Deed Records; Volume 109, pages B839-October-28 C.M. Wilmeth to W.R. Fisher.

It is here noted that C.M. Wilmeth had three oterst Dallas real estate deed transactions filetimty records:
Dallas County Deed Records; Volume 98, pﬁ@ea888-October3'2} C.M. Wilmeth to J.A. Crawford, and.
Dallas County Deed Records; Volume 109, p&@3; 1889-October™4J.A. Crawford back to C.M. Wilmeth.

There is also the following deed, whereby C.MInwth sold Lots 6 & 7 of Fisher's Addition to W.Risher, though there is
no record of Wilmeth having ever phasing this parcel — a mystery. Perhaps theralt®d which was never filed.
Dallas County Deed Records; Volumepziges 498; 1887-April-28th; C.M. Wilmeth to WRsher; filed 1888-Oct.'%

The proximity in dates between this deed where Wiilnsells Lots 6 & 7 with Wilmeth's
purchase of land on the west end of his univessig; makes it appear as if he had first bought
the area along the slope to the east -- the na@tlteaner of today's Willomet and Seale — then
decided that its terrain was too difficult for kifig his college and traded it for flatter land lbac
to the west. The land Wilmeth had presumablyioaity purchased — "Lots 6&7" — was then
sold by W.R. Fisher to L.F. Powell. It appeard thawell then constructed a one and half story
house east on the precipice of the escarpmente‘steeconstruction notice in tballas
Morning Newslated September 1888 for a Frank Powell addingstdMest Dallas residence.
That small terrace for Powell's house was abodée&plower than Wilmeth's hilltop university
site, but Powell's roof and upper story probabdyted to block Wilmeth's site's view of distant
Dallas — which might have been irksome to Wilmegmsher often waits years before filing
deeds, and it seems that since it got traded blaakhe never bothered to file this one with
Wilmeth. Wilmeth filed the deed for his side oéttrtade as he was leaving Texas. This is based
on fragmentary documentation — is conjectural getslative — therefore, at least in this point
in time, | will not deem it as "reliable history".

Same as Note 5 above.

Same as Note 4 above.

18. 1898-April-2* Dallas Morning Newspage 8\West Dallas

(End of Footnotes)



